RECEIVED

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE SUPREME COURT

RECEIVED

JAN 17 2014

\_\_\_\_\_  
Certiorari to York County

Edgar W. Dickson, Circuit Court Judge

S.C. Supreme Court

\_\_\_\_\_

DERRICK TYRONE BLAKE,

PETITIONER,

v.

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

RESPONDENT.

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2013-001196

\_\_\_\_\_  
PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI

\_\_\_\_\_

CARMEN V. GANJEHSANI  
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense  
Division of Appellate Defense  
PO Box 11589  
Columbia, SC 29211-1589  
(803) 734-1343

ATTORNEY FOR PETITIONER

**

## **ISSUE PRESENTED**

Whether trial counsel provided ineffective assistance of counsel by failing to object to the solicitor's closing argument when the solicitor's comments: impermissibly appealed to the passions of the jurors; played on the jury's fear of the impact of drugs on our society and invited the jury to convict Petitioner to keep the streets safe from drugs; went beyond the evidence presented at trial and the reasonable inferences therefrom; and so infected the trial with unfairness as to make the resulting conviction a denial a of due process?

## STATEMENT

### **Indictments**

On August 21, 2008, the York County Grand Jury indicted Petitioner Derrick Tyrone Blake of (1) distribution of crack cocaine and (2) distribution of crack cocaine within proximity of a park. App. 305-310.

### **Trial**

On December 2-3, 2008, Petitioner was tried before the Honorable John C. Hayes, III and a jury. App. 1-176. Petitioner was represented by James W. Boyd, and the State was represented by Assistant Solicitor E.B. Springs. App. 1. The jury found Petitioner guilty as charged. App. 170, ll. 17-25. Judge Hayes sentenced Petitioner to fifteen years for distribution for crack cocaine, second offense and to fifteen years for the proximity charge, with the sentences to run concurrent. App. 176, ll. 18-23; 307; 311.

### **Direct Appeal**

Appellate Defender M. Celia Robinson filed an appellant's brief on Petitioner's behalf to the South Carolina Court of Appeals pursuant to Anders v. California, 386 U.S. 738 (1967). App. 179-192. On February 10, 2011, the Court of Appeals dismissed Petitioner's appeal. App. 193.

### **Application for Post-Conviction Relief and Evidentiary Hearing**

On September 7, 2011, Petitioner filed an application for post-conviction relief ("PCR") alleging, among other things, his trial counsel's failure to object to certain statements made by the solicitor during closing argument to the jury. App. 194-200. The State filed its Return on September 24, 2012. App. 201-205.

On October 9, 2012, Petitioner appeared before the Honorable Edgar W. Dickson for an evidentiary hearing. App. 206-271. Petitioner was represented by Leah Moody, and the State was represented by Assistant Attorney General J. Rutledge Johnson. App. 206. Both Petitioner and his trial counsel testified at the hearing. App. 210-269.

**Order of Dismissal**

On May 3, 2013, Judge Dickson filed his Order of Dismissal denying and dismissing Petitioner's PCR application with prejudice. App. 294-303.

This petition for writ of certiorari follows.

## ARGUMENT

**Trial counsel provided ineffective assistance of counsel by failing to object to the solicitor's closing argument when the solicitor's comments: impermissibly appealed to the passions of the jurors; played on the jury's fear of the impact of drugs on our society and invited the jury to convict Petitioner to keep the streets safe from drugs; went beyond the evidence presented at trial and the reasonable inferences therefrom; and so infected the trial with unfairness as to make the resulting conviction a denial a of due process.**

The Sixth Amendment to the United States Constitution guarantees a defendant the right to effective assistance of counsel. U.S. Const. amend. VI. To establish ineffective assistance of counsel, Petitioner must satisfy the two-prong test set forth in Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668 (1984) “First, a defendant must show that counsel's performance was deficient. Under this prong, [t]he proper measure of attorney performance remains simply reasonableness under prevailing professional norms.” Cherry v. State, 300 S.C. 115, 386 S.E.2d 624 (1989) (internal citations omitted). “The second prong of the Strickland test requires a showing that the deficient performance prejudiced the defendant to the extent that there is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel's unprofessional errors, the result of the proceeding would have been different. The defendant is required to overcome the presumption that counsel was effective in order to receive relief.” Id. at 118, 386 S.E.2d at 625 (internal citations omitted). Therefore, where ineffective assistance of counsel is alleged as a ground for PCR relief, the applicant must prove that “counsel’s conduct so undermined the proper functioning of the adversarial process that the trial cannot be relied upon as having produced a just result.” Strickland, 466 U.S. at 692.

## **Facts of Case**

Petitioner was indicted for distribution of crack cocaine and distribution of crack cocaine within proximity of a park after allegedly selling crack cocaine to an undercover informant working with the Multi-Jurisdictional Drug Enforcement Unit of the Rock Hill City Police Department.

Informant Antwan Benjamin set up a drug deal for law enforcement on the afternoon of February 20, 2008. Benjamin was already facing a distribution of crack cocaine second offense and looking at twenty-five years in prison. App. 77, l. 25 – 78, l. 10. Concerned with the prospect of facing a great deal of time in jail, Benjamin decided to become an undercover informant to try to get as little jail time as possible. App. 79, l. 24 – 81, l. 5.

Benjamin told law enforcement he would meet with Petitioner to buy crack cocaine. App. 63, l. 22 – 64, l. 6. Prior to the buy, law enforcement searched Benjamin's vehicle. His vehicle was very messy, yet the police only searched it for approximately two minutes. App. 57, ll. 6-9; 68, ll. 1-2; 83, l. 19 – 86, l. 10. During the search of his vehicle, Benjamin asked the officers, "You all think I would set somebody up?" App. 84, l. 14 – 85, l. 23. Law enforcement wired Benjamin and gave him \$180.00 for the buy. App. 68, ll. 5-13.

Benjamin testified that when he arrived at Petitioner's house, Petitioner was rolling a marijuana joint. App. 86, l. 25 – 87, l. 11. Benjamin said Petitioner did not have the drugs for Benjamin at that point. Accordingly to Benjamin, Petitioner was waiting on someone else to bring the drugs. App. 68, l. 17 – 69, l. 5. Benjamin said Petitioner came back with the drugs, and the money was exchanged. App. 70, ll. 3-8. Benjamin testified that the final price was \$150.00. App. 70, ll. 7-8. Benjamin conceded the crack cocaine he allegedly

bought from Petitioner was packaged very small and would have been very easy to hide. App. 94, l. 18 – 95, l. 18. Therefore, between Benjamin's messy vehicle which law enforcement barely searched and the small package of crack cocaine that would have been very easy to hide, it would not have been difficult for Benjamin to set someone up for selling drugs.

Notably, the video recording did not show Petitioner handing Benjamin any crack cocaine. App. 93, ll. 18-25. The only evidence at trial that Petitioner gave Benjamin any crack cocaine was Benjamin's testimony, which given Benjamin's record and his motivation to testify, was certainly far from credible.

In addition, Benjamin stated he saw a black car at Petitioner's house which he suggested Petitioner's supplier was driving. However, no black car was shown on the video recording, and the officers in the area monitoring the drug deal never observed any black car. App. 60, l. 17 – 61, l. 4; 94, ll. 1-7, 101, ll. 13-17. This suggested Benjamin's account was not accurate.

Petitioner also testified at trial. He said when the video shows him walking away from Benjamin, he was going into his yard to make sure a stray dog walking nearby was not going to get into his yard since Petitioner's dog was in heat at the time. App. 119, ll. 6-13. Petitioner also said the only thing he handed Benjamin was a joint. App. 119, ll. 15-18. Petitioner testified he never handed Benjamin any crack cocaine. App. 123, ll. 13-15.

During closing argument to the jury, the Solicitor made several remarks that were not objected to by Petitioner's trial counsel, including:

This is a business man. This isn't a punk kid eighteen year old standing on a corner. This is a forty-four year old business man. Benjamin said I want to meet your guy. He's say you're not going to meet my guy. He's not going

to cut himself out. He's not going to do that he is a business man. App. 157, ll. 15-21.

He's in this for the money. It's all about him. It's not about the lives that the crack is going to affect. This isn't just about the addict. This is about the families; it's about the people they steal from, it's about the rent that doesn't get paid, the food that doesn't get put on the table and the electricity bill that doesn't get paid. It's about the clerk that gets robbed or shot. App. 157, l. 21 – 158, l. 2.

Hand to hand at the window on the movie things are going back and forth. App. 159, ll. 1-2.

After deliberations, the jury found Petitioner guilty of both distribution of crack cocaine and distribution of crack cocaine within proximity of a park. App. 170, ll. 17-23.

At the PCR evidentiary hearing, Petitioner testified that the remarks made by the solicitor to the jury during closing were improper because “he [the solicitor] was making statements that were not in evidence for one and that . . . inflamed the passion of the jury. That was his personal opinions. He is interjecting his personal opinions in the closing arguments. App. 227, l. 7 – 230, l. 15.

During his PCR hearing testimony, Petitioner's trial counsel acknowledged that the solicitor went into “an area that you could argue is improper . . . .” App. 252, ll. 18-19. Trial counsel did not want to object, however, because he believed it would appear rude in front of the jury. App. 252, ll. 22-25.

The PCR court, in denying Petitioner's PCR application, ruled trial counsel was not ineffective for failing to object to the solicitor's closing argument where “the record and the evidence at trial support[ed] the Solicitor's version of the facts and the allowable inferences therefrom.” App. 299. The PCR court also found the solicitor's comments did not “infect the trial with unfairness to make the [Petitioner's] conviction a denial of due process.” App. 300.

## **Deficient Performance and Prejudice**

The United States Supreme Court has long ago counseled prosecutors to “refrain from improper methods calculated to produce a wrongful conviction . . . .” See Berger v. United States, 295 U.S. 78, 88 (1935). During closing argument, “[a] solicitor has a right to state his version of the testimony and to comment on the weight to be given such testimony.” Randall v. State, 356 S.C. 639, 642, 591 S.E.2d 608, 610 (2004). Yet, the “argument must not be calculated to arouse the jurors’ passions or prejudices, and its content should stay within the record and reasonable inferences to it.” State v. Rudd, 355 S.C. 543, 549, 586 S.E.2d 153, 156 (Ct. App. 2003) (citation omitted); See State v. Copeland, 321 S.C. 318, 324, 468 S.E.2d 620, 624 (1996). As this Court explained,

Solicitors are bound to rules of fairness in their closing arguments ... While the solicitor should prosecute vigorously, his duty is not to convict a defendant but to see justice done. The solicitor's closing argument must, of course, be based on this principle. The argument therefore must be carefully tailored so as not to appeal to the personal bias of the juror nor be calculated to arouse his passion or prejudice.

State v. Northcutt, 372 S.C. 207, 222, 641 S.E.2d 873, 881 (2007) (internal citation and quotation omitted).

“The relevant question is whether the solicitor's comments so infected the trial with unfairness as to make the resulting conviction a denial of due process.” Humphries v. State, 351 S.C. 362, 373, 570 S.E.2d 160, 166 (2002) (finding “[i]mproper comments do not automatically require reversal if they are not prejudicial to the defendant, and the appellant has the burden of proving he did not receive a fair trial because of the alleged improper argument.”); See State v. Hornsby, 326 S.C. 121, 129, 484 S.E.2d 869, 873

(1997) (“A denial of due process occurs when a defendant in a criminal trial is denied the fundamental fairness essential to the concept of justice.”). Ultimately, “[t]he appropriateness of a solicitor's . . . argument is a matter left to the trial court's sound discretion.” Id. at 548, 586 S.E.2d at 156.

In this case, the solicitor's remarks to the jury during closing which were not objected to by Petitioner's trial counsel were not based upon or supported by the evidence, were calculated to arouse the jury's passions or prejudices, and went beyond the outer boundaries of proper closing argument.

In State v. Liberte, 336 S.C. 648, 521 S.E.2d 744 (Ct. App. 1999), in a conspiracy to traffic cocaine case, the prosecutor made the following remarks to the jury in his closing argument:

Ladies and gentleman, I want to ask you right now to listen to the judge's instructions about reasonable doubt, and *ask yourselves is it being used as a sword to attack law and order, to attack law enforcement, to attack people who are trying to keep drugs off our streets?*

336 S.C. at 652, 521 S.E.2d at 746 (emphasis in original).

The Court of Appeals held the argument was calculated to appeal to the jury's passions and prejudices by “playing on the jury's fear of the impact of drugs on our society.” Id. at 653; 521 S.E.2d at 747. In finding the prosecutor's argument clearly improper, the court concluded the “argument invited the jury to convict the Defendants, even if the evidence did not prove their guilt beyond a reasonable doubt, in order to keep the streets safe from the scourge of drugs.” Id.

In Petitioner's case, the solicitor also played on the jury's “fear of the impact of drugs on our society” with the following argument:

He's in this for the money. It's all about him. It's not about the lives that the crack is going to affect. This isn't just about the addict. This is about the families; it's about the people they steal from, it's about the rent that doesn't get paid, the food that doesn't get put on the table and the electricity bill that doesn't get paid. It's about the clerk that gets robbed or shot.

App. 157, l. 21 – 158, l. 2.

In this argument to the jury, the solicitor went well beyond the record and any reasonable inferences from the record. None of this – about crack users and dealers stealing from people, not paying rent, not putting food on the table, not paying electricity bills, and robbing and shooting store clerks – was found anywhere in the record. Suggesting that families would go hungry and become homeless and that store clerks would be robbed and shot if the jury did not convict Petitioner “invited the jury to convict” Petitioner even if they reasonably doubted his guilt.

The Court of Appeals has observed:

A prosecutor may not urge jurors to convict a criminal defendant in order to protect community values, preserve civil order, or deter future lawmaking. The evil lurking in such prosecutorial appeals is that the defendant will be convicted for reasons wholly irrelevant to his own guilt or innocence. Jurors may be persuaded by such appeals to believe that, by convicting a defendant, they will assist in the solution of some pressing social problem. The amelioration of society's woes is far too heavy a burden for the individual criminal defendant to bear.

Id. at 654, 521 S.E.2d at 747; see also United States v. Monaghan, 741 F.2d 1434, 1441 (D.C.Cir.1984), *cert. denied*, 470 U.S. 1085, 105 S.Ct. 1847, 85 L.Ed.2d 146 (1985); United States v. Hawkins, 595 F.2d 751, 754 (D.C.Cir.1978) (Prosecutors are not “at liberty to substitute emotion for evidence by equating, directly or by innuendo, a verdict of guilty to a blow against the drug problem.”), *cert. denied*, 441 U.S. 910, 99 S.Ct. 2005, 60 L.Ed.2d 380 (1979); United States v. Barker, 553 F.2d 1013, 1025 (6th Cir.1977) (“[I]t is beyond the bounds of propriety for a prosecutor to suggest that unless this

defendant is convicted it will be impossible to maintain 'law and order' in the jurors' community."); United States v. Radka, 904 F.2d 357, 361 (6th Cir.1990) ("Despite the devastation wrought by drug trafficking in communities nationwide, we cannot suspend the precious rights guaranteed by the Constitution in an effort to fight the 'War on Drugs.'").

Trial counsel was accordingly deficient in failing to object to the solicitor's closing remarks to the jury asking the jury to convict Petitioner to keep families from going hungry and homeless and to prevent store clerks from being robbed and shot.

Trial counsel should have also objected to remarks made by the solicitor which were not supported by the evidence:

This is a business man. This isn't a punk kid eighteen year old standing on a corner. This is a forty-four year old business man. Benjamin said I want to meet your guy. He's say you're not going to meet my guy. He's not going to cut himself out. He's not going to do that he is a business man.

Hand to hand at the window on the movie things are going back and forth.

App. 157, ll. 15-21; App. 159, ll. 1-2.

The video recording made by informant Benjamin did not show any hand to hand transaction, and this comment therefore inaccurately described the evidence presented at trial. App. 93, ll. 18-25.

In addition, the solicitor's comments inferring that Petitioner was a sophisticated business man also overstepped the bounds of the evidence presented at trial. There was no evidence at trial that Petitioner was a savvy drug dealer with some sort of lucrative business profiting from the sale of drugs. The solicitor's comments improperly characterized Petitioner as a drug dealer and presupposed Petitioner's guilt before the jury found Petitioner guilty of distribution of crack cocaine.

Petitioner's trial counsel was therefore also deficient in failing to object to these improper jury remarks by the solicitor which went beyond the evidence and inappropriately suggested Petitioner was a sophisticated drug dealer.


Trial counsel's failure to object to the solicitor's improper remarks during closing argument was not harmless error. The evidence in the case against Petitioner was not overwhelming where the video recording did not show any drug transaction between Petitioner and Benjamin and the case hinged on the questionable testimony of a confidential informant who had plenty of motivation to falsely testify.

Accordingly, trial counsel's failure to object to the solicitor's closing remarks to the jury prejudiced Petitioner's trial. This Court should therefore reverse the PCR court's order denying relief.

**CONCLUSION**

For the reasons set forth herein, Petitioner Derrick Tyrone Blake respectfully requests this Court to grant his Petition for Writ of Certiorari and allow full briefing on the issue.