STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Supreme Court

RECEIVED

MAY 21 2014

CERTIORARI TO YORK COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

S.C. Supreme Court

The Honorable Edgar W. Dickson, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No.: 2013-001196

Derrick Tyrone Blake..... Petitioner,

v.

State of South Carolina..... Respondent.

RETURN TO PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

J. RUTLEDGE JOHNSON
Assistant Attorney General
SC Bar # 78871

P.O. Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211
(803) 734-3737

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

QUESTION PRESENTED

Did the PCR court properly hold Counsel was not ineffective for failing to object during the State's closing argument, specifically concerning the reference to Petitioner as a businessman and the reference of a hand-to-hand transaction, when Petitioner failed to establish deficient performance by Counsel or any resulting prejudice?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Derrick Tyrone Blake, (Petitioner), was indicted at the August 2008 term of the York County Grand Jury for Distribution of Cocaine Base (2008-GS-46-3048) and Distribution of Crack Cocaine within proximity of a park. He was represented by Jim Boyd, Esq. On December 3, 2008, Petitioner was tried by a jury and convicted of both charges as indicted. The Honorable John C. Hayes, III sentenced the Petitioner to confinement for fifteen (15) years for each charge. The sentences run concurrently.

Thereafter, the Petitioner appealed his conviction and sentence. A brief was filed on his behalf pursuant to Anders¹. The South Carolina Court of Appeals affirmed his conviction. State v. Blake, 2011-UP-54 (filed February 10, 2011). The Remittitur was issued on March 1, 2011.

Petitioner subsequently filed an application for post-conviction relief (PCR) on September 7, 2011 alleging, *inter alia*, ineffective assistance of trial counsel for: “[failing] to object to statement by the prosecutor that were(sic) not in evidence” and “[failing] to object to statement by prosecutor in closing argument.” Respondent made its Return on September 21, 2012. An evidentiary hearing into the matter was convened on October 9, 2012, at the Moss Justice Center in York, SC. Petitioner was present at the hearing and was represented by Leah B. Moody, Esquire. J. Rutledge Johnson, Esquire, of the South Carolina Attorney General’s Office, represented Respondent. The Honorable Edgar W. Dickson denied and dismissed the application by written order dated April 18, 2013.

A timely notice of appeal from the Order of Dismissal was filed on Petitioner’s behalf. Petitioner subsequently filed a Petition for Writ of Certiorari. This Return to the Petition for Writ of Certiorari follows.

¹ Anders v. California, 386 U.S. 738 (1967).

STANDARD OF REVIEW

The proper standard for reviewing a PCR evidentiary hearing is whether “any evidence of probative value” exists to sustain the post-conviction relief judge's findings. Cherry v. State, 300 S.C. 115, 386 S.E.2d 624 (1989). In a PCR proceeding, the Petitioner bears the burden of proving the allegations in their application. Butler v. State, 286 S.C. 441, 334 S.E.2d 813 (1985).

ARGUMENT

- I. **The PCR court properly held Counsel was not ineffective for failing to object during the State's closing argument, specifically concerning the reference to Petitioner as a businessman and the reference of a hand-to-hand transaction, when Petitioner failed to establish deficient performance by Counsel or any resulting prejudice.**

Petitioner asserts the PCR court erred in finding trial counsel's performance was not deficient where Counsel failed to object to the State's comments in closing argument that he claims appealed to the jurors' passions, played on the jury's fear of the impact of drugs in society, went beyond the evidence presented at trial and the reasonable inferences therefrom and so infected the trial with unfairness as to make the resulting conviction a denial of due process. This argument is without merit.

In a post-conviction relief proceeding, the Petitioner bears the burden of proving the allegations in their application. Butler v. State, 286 S.C. 441, 334 S.E.2d 813 (1985). Where ineffective assistance of counsel is alleged as a ground for relief, the Petitioner must prove that "Counsel's conduct so undermined the proper functioning of the adversarial process that the trial cannot be relied upon as having produced a just result." Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 104 S.Ct. 2052, 2064(1984); Butler, 334 S.E.2d 813.

The proper measure of performance is whether the attorney provided representation within the range of competence required in criminal cases. The courts presume that Counsel rendered adequate assistance and made all significant decisions in the exercise of reasonable professional judgment. Strickland, *supra*. Petitioner must overcome this presumption in order to receive relief. Cherry v. State, 300 S.C. 115, 386 S.E.2d 624 (1989).

A two-pronged test is used in evaluating allegations of ineffective assistance of Counsel. First, Petitioner must prove that Counsel's performance was deficient. Under this prong, attorney performance is measured by its "reasonableness under professional norms." Cherry, 300 S.C. at 117, 386 S.E.2d at 625, (citing Strickland). Second, Counsel's deficient performance must have prejudiced Petitioner such that "there is a reasonable probability that, but for Counsel's unprofessional errors, the result of the proceeding would have been different." Cherry, 300 S.C. at 117-18, 386 S.E.2d at 625.

The State's closing arguments must be confined to evidence in the record and the reasonable inferences that may be drawn from the evidence. State v. Copeland, 321 S.C. 318, 468 S.E.2d 620 (1996). Furthermore, the solicitor's closing argument must not appeal to the personal biases of the jurors. Id. "On appeal, the appellate court will view the alleged impropriety of the solicitor's argument in the context of the entire record, including whether the trial judge's instructions adequately cured the improper argument and whether there is overwhelming evidence of the defendant's guilt." Simmons v. State, 331 at 338, 503 S.E.2d at 166. "Improper comments do not automatically require reversal if they are not prejudicial to the defendant, and the appellant has the burden of proving he did not receive a fair trial because of the alleged improper argument." Brown v. State, 383 S.C. 506, 516, 680 S.E.2d 909, 915 (2009) (citing Humphries v. State, 351 S.C. 362, 373, 570 S.E.2d 160, 166 (2002)). To be entitled to a new trial for improper closing arguments, the test is whether "the Solicitor's comments so infected the trial with unfairness as to make the resulting conviction a denial of due process." State v. Hamilton, 344 S.C. 344, 362, 543 S.E.2d 586, 596 (2001).

In the State's closing argument, the State argued Petitioner was a businessman for his role in selling and dealing crack cocaine to the Confidential Informant (CI):

This is a business man. This isn't a punk eighteen years old standing on a corner. This is a forty-four year old business man. [CI] says I want to meet your guy. [Petitioner] says you're not going to meet my guy. [Petitioner's] not going to cut himself out. [Petitioner's] not going to do that he is a business man. [Petitioner's] in this for the money. It's all about [Petitioner].

(App. p. 157 lines 15-22).

Later, the State argued, "Hand to hand at the window on the movie things are going back and forth." (App. p.159 lines 1-2).

The PCR Court held:

This Court finds Counsel was not ineffective for [not] objecting to the Solicitor's closing argument. First, the record and the evidence at trial support the Solicitor's version of the facts and the allowable inferences therefrom... As to the comment about the Applicant being a businessman, there is evidence in the record that the Applicant sold crack cocaine for one hundred and fifty dollars to the CI. *See* Tr. p. 63-66, 68-70. Therefore, there is testimony to support the Solicitor's comments that a transaction made where the Applicant sold the CI drugs for money; hence, the reasonable inference that the Applicant is a form of a businessman, or one who engages in the activity of buying and selling². As to the comment that there was a hand-to-hand transaction, although the transaction was not recorded by the video camera, the CI testified, "Yes, sir. [Petitioner] handed me the drugs and I took a look at them and agreed top(sic) what I saw and handed him some money." (Tr. p. 70 lines 5-6). Undoubtedly, the Solicitor had the right to reference a hand-to-hand transaction of the crack cocaine.

(App. p. 299-300).

Clearly, the State's comment that Petitioner was a businessman is a reasonable inference from the evidence presented at trial as the CI testified Petitioner sold him crack cocaine for one hundred and fifty dollars. Additionally, it was permissible for the State to argue that there was a hand-to-hand transaction based properly on the CI's testimony. As such, the State's closing

² According to Webster's II *New Riverside* Dictionary 97 (Rev'd 1996), business is defined as "trade; commerce." Commerce is then defined as "the buying and selling of goods."

argument was proper based on the evidence at trial and therefore, Counsel had no reasonable basis on which to object.

Even, assuming *arguendo*, the State's closing argument was improper and Counsel should have objected to the comments, Petitioner failed to present credible evidence that he did not receive a fair trial based on the State's closing argument. Petitioner failed to prove that "the Solicitor's comments so infected the trial with unfairness as to make the resulting conviction a denial of due process," where Petitioner admitted to selling illegal drugs, albeit marijuana, to the CI, where the CI testified that Petitioner actually sold him crack cocaine and where Counsel's investigator's notes, introduced at the PCR by Petitioner, show there was a hand-to-hand transaction where Petitioner gave the CI a product that "[l]ooks like raw baking soda" and that Petitioner stated was "pretty good" and that others "rock[ed] on it last night." (App. p. 285). Clearly, Petitioner sold the CI something other than marijuana. Thus, Petitioner can prove no resulting prejudice from Counsel's alleged failure to object to the State's closing argument.

Accordingly, there is clear "evidence of probative value" to support the PCR judge's findings. Cherry v. State, 300 S.C. 115, 386 S.E.2d 624 (1989). Therefore, the Petitioner has failed to meet his burden of proof as to this argument.

Petitioner also argues Counsel was ineffective not objecting to the State's closing argument containing the following excerpt:

It's not about the lives that that crack is going to affect. This isn't just about the addict. This is about the families; it's about the people they steal from; it's about the rent that doesn't get paid, the food that doesn't get put on the table and the electricity bill that doesn't get paid. It's about the clerk that gets robbed or shot.

(App. p. 157 line 22-p. 158 line 2).

However, this issue is not preserved for appellate review.

“To be preserved for appellate review, an issue must be both presented to and passed upon by the trial court. If the issue is raised but not ruled on, it is not preserved for appeal.” State v. Watts, 321 S.C. 158, 167, 467 S.E.2d 272, 278 (Ct. App. 1996); see also State v. Hoffman, 312 S.C. 386, 393, 440 S.E.2d 869, 873 (1994) (“The issue which is not properly preserved cannot be raised for the first time on appeal). Only a matter that has been ruled on below can be reviewed, otherwise, the appellate court would be exercising original jurisdiction. State v. Gee, 262 S.C. 373, 204 S.E.2d 727 (1974). “A Rule 59(e) motion must be filed if issues are not adequately addressed in order to preserve the issues for appellate review.” Marlar v. State, 375 S.C. 407, 410, 653 S.E.2d 266, 267 (2007).

In this case, while Petitioner raised this issue at the PCR hearing (App. p. 227 line 1-p. 228 line 6), the PCR Court did not address it in the Order of Dismissal. Further, Petitioner filed no motion to alter or amend the judgment pursuant to Rule 59(e) SCRCP. Therefore, pursuant to Gee and Marlar, this issue is not preserved.

CONCLUSION

For the reasons stated above, this Court should deny the Petition for Writ of Certiorari and affirm the PCR Court's ruling. Should this Court grant Certiorari, the Respondent requests permission under the rules to brief the issues discussed above fully.